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AUTHORS’ NOTE
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This book, in a very real sense, is the product of four years of investigative work involving literally thousands of police officers. The authors, however, are solely responsible for the accuracy of all statements contained herein. We have changed the names and otherwise disguised the identities of a number of civilians who testified at the trial or cooperated with authorities in other ways. The following names are not real names: Antonia Torres Allen, Howard Allen, Nanny Closter, Jack Franklin, Linda Gill, Hector Grace, Duncan Grant, S. W. Griffin, Irene Grohman, Bernard Hexter, Alexandra Horn, Francis A. Howland, Ruth Jennings, Gloria Lapp, Horace Lukes, Lester Bertram May, Mrs. Mitchell, Jethro Peel, Nana Peel, Christine Rowe, Malcolm Rowe, Grace Russell, Ulysses Tatum, Celia Torres, Nana Tucker, Adela Wine. The character of Horace Lukes is a composite figure drawn from more than one New Orleans police officer. One place name has been changed: the town of Cordelia, Mississippi. All personal and place names not mentioned above may be assumed to be real names.
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PART ONE
Scoping Pigs


WAVERLY JONES WAS DEAD BEFORE HE HIT the sidewalk, the bullets tracing a neat line straight down his back as though someone had been trying to bisect him from top to bottom. The first one smashed through his skull, an almost perfect shot, dead center to the back of his head, fired from no more than six inches behind him. If he felt anything, it was only the wallop of impact, for the bullet that seared through his brain was hot enough to cook the tissue as it passed.

He was already pitching forward when the next shot ripped into the back of his neck, severed his spine, and neatly cracked his lower jaw the way impatient hands might snap a pencil. The third shot, about eighteen inches directly below the second, again tore through a vertebra and came to rest in the dead tissue of what had been only thirty seconds before the powerful body of a proud black police officer in the prime of his life.

The bullets came so fast he was still falling when the fourth one hit. Moving upward now, because of the angle of his body, it pierced the tissue of his left buttock and didn’t stop until it had ruptured his kidney and diaphragm.

Dead at thirty-two, Patrolman Waverly Jones was the lucky one. His killer worked with the cool precision of a professional executioner. But the second gunman didn’t have the first one’s skill, and so Patrolman Joseph Piagentini died the way a bull dies in the ring, his body scored and torn with a dozen wounds that left him alive long enough to feel the impact of each bullet, long enough to crawl along the damp, foul sidewalk while bullet after bullet easily outran him. Long enough to plead with his killers, to beg them not to shoot him again.

But they wouldn’t stop. The second gunman emptied his long-barreled .38 into Piagentini’s body and then stood over him, cursing him for his stupidity in refusing to die.

Meanwhile, the first gunman, the one who had killed Waverly Jones, reached down and unstrapped the leather harness that held Jones’s service revolver in its holster. He slid the gun free and studied it for a few seconds, feeling the heft of it in his hand, appreciating it the way a hunter values an animal he has killed. The weapon was now his, the tusk or tooth or talon of his fallen prey.

He thrust the .38 into his belt and strode to where his partner was now stooping over Piagentini trying to pry the gun from the holster of the writhing cop. He watched as the cop’s hand made desperate movements toward his hip, like the uncoordinated flailings of a crying baby. Then the second shooter stood upright, the cop’s gun in his right hand, his own empty .38 in his left. He pulled the trigger of the service revolver again and again, each bullet sending spasms of fresh pain to Piagentini’s tortured brain.

Then the cop’s gun, too, clicked empty, and the cop was still alive, his moanings and movements delivering a clear and appalling message to the confused killer. “We are the police,” the still living body seemed to say. “You can hate us and revile us, you can come up behind us in the dark of a Harlem night. You can arm yourselves like warriors and shoot us until your guns are empty. But you cannot kill us.”

The first gunman saw the look of panic and perplexity on his partner’s face. Calmly, he raised his .45 and fired one last shot into the cop’s body. Then he and his partner fled as they might have fled a ghost, leaving Patrolman Joseph Piagentini still alive on the sidewalk, still crawling in his own blood toward the shelter of a hedge.

He was alive a few minutes later when a passing stranger saw what he first took to be a clump of clothes, then saw it move, heard it groan. He was alive when the first police car arrived on the scene. And he was alive when they lifted him into the back seat of a squad car that went screaming off toward Harlem Hospital.

He died in the police car.

The next morning the doctor who performed the autopsy took three bullets from his body. Nine others had passed completely through him. In all, the doctor counted twenty-two bullet holes in Joseph Piagentini. He had been twenty-eight years old.


One

NORTH OF THE TRIBOROUGH BRIDGE, THE Harlem River slices sharply to the northwest, narrowing Manhattan Island down to a tadpole tail of land. At 142nd Street, Fifth Avenue, the dividing line between the East Side and the West Side, runs up against the river and comes to a stop. Lenox Avenue, which is Harlem’s name for Sixth, extends northward as far as 147th, and then it, too, runs out of land. Seventh lasts all the way to 154th, just one block short of the Macombs Dam Bridge, which leads across the river to the Bronx and Yankee Stadium.

From the air, the triangle of land bordered on the south by 155th Street, on the west by the sheer cliff known as Coogan’s Bluff, and on the east by the Harlem River doesn’t look like it belongs to New York. Beyond it, to the south and west, one can see the huddled tenements of Harlem pressed to each other like subway riders in the morning. But in the triangle itself, known generally as the Colonial Park district, the tenements have long since been leveled, to be replaced by two distinct sets of ungainly X-shaped apartment towers.

The southernmost set of towers consists of four thirty-story apartments that from above look like mammoth jacks left lying on the ground by the children of giants. And well they might, for the land they stand on was once the home of Giants. The Polo Grounds used to be here, and now someone’s living room covers the spot where Eddie Stanky rode from third to home on Leo Durocher’s back after Bobby Thomson’s home run in the ’51 playoff.

Just north of the Polo Grounds Project stand seven identical twelve-story towers and a larger eighth one that is really just two of the smaller buildings run together. Although the grounds have been attractively landscaped with hedges, grass, trees, and wide walkways, nothing can disguise the fact that the Colonial Park Houses, as these eight towers are collectively called, are low-income housing. In an effort to pass them off as something else, the architects hoped to create a parklike atmosphere by facing the main entrances of all the buildings inward, so that the project is self-contained, its back turned on Harlem. But Harlem cannot be so easily thrust aside. Like an unpleasant thought the mind tries to reject, it has a way of reasserting itself. Psychoanalysts call this phenomenon the return of the repressed, but the cops in the Thirty-second Precinct had a simpler way of putting it. In Colonial Park, they said, you watched your ass.

Richard Hill had fought in Vietnam and should have known the sound of gunfire when he heard it. But on a spring night twelve thousand miles from where he had done his fighting, the sudden noise caught him off guard and he assumed the explosions were firecrackers. It took a moment for him to realize he was once again on a battlefield. When he did, he reacted like a soldier.

As he passed between buildings 159-14 and 159-20, he glanced to his left, the direction from which the sound of the firecrackers had come. But there were no children playing in the area, no signs of life at all. There was just, on the sidewalk near the bushes, sixty to seventy feet in front of him, a clump of discarded clothes.

Then the clothing moved, shifting on the ground as though there were something alive in it. He watched for a few seconds, until he was certain he had seen it move, then walked toward it, quickening his pace as he drew closer. When he had cut the distance in half he began to hear a terrible moaning, like an animal in pain, like the wind keening through high trees. By this time he was running.

The thought flashed through his mind that there were snipers on one of the roofs. An instinct bred in distant jungles took over and he darted for cover, then raised his head and scanned the rooftops. He saw nothing. In an infantryman’s crawl, he inched toward the fallen man, alert for any glint from above that would be the only warning he would get of the sniper’s presence.

As he rounded the corner of the walkway, he saw a second body, actually closer to him than the one he had seen before. He crawled to it, saw it was a cop and that the back of his head was missing. He looked for the cop’s gun but it wasn’t there. He knew he was safe, for a sniper couldn’t have taken the gun, so he ran toward the other cop. The walkie-talkie one of them had been carrying lay on the ground between them. Hill grabbed for it, punched at the button that would make it work, and shouted an alarm. “May Day! May Day! Two cops shot!” he called. Then he dropped the box and ran to the second patrolman, the one whose cries he had been hearing all along.

Joseph Piagentini was still moving, still trying to crawl to the clump of bushes at the edge of the sidewalk. He didn’t know the shooting had stopped.

Hector Grace, a beer-bellied, forty-five-year-old gypsy-cab driver, had taken his wife out for dinner before going on the night shift. He dropped her off in the back of the project and waited in the cab for a light to go on in the apartment window, their signal that she was safely inside.

He heard shots and saw, not far from where his wife had just walked, the flashes of gunshots, a quick bright series of flares in the near darkness. He saw two cops go down, then two men running along the sidewalk toward him, pistols in their hands.

He didn’t follow them with his eyes once they were beyond his cab, didn’t even wait for the light to come on in his living-room window. He gunned the engine and raced from the project, squealing the tires in a hard right onto Eighth Avenue. He was looking for a cop, heading south toward the precinct house but praying he would find a patrol car sooner than later.

He was in luck. At 145th and Eighth he spotted a green-and-white cruiser, pulled up beside it, and told the officer what he had seen and heard. The siren flashed on even as the cruiser was screeching into the U-turn that would take it back uptown to Colonial Park.

Mike Warnecke reached for the radio to report the call. “Jesus, that’s our sector,” his partner Bob Alvino muttered under his breath, in the back of his mind the realization already taking shape that but for a chance call that had drawn them from their sector only minutes before, it would have been he and Mike lying in their own blood on the sidewalk.

“They was sitting on that car,” someone shouted from the crowd of thirty or forty curious and angry blacks clustered behind the barricade of sawhorses and ropes that had been set up to quarantine the crime scene.

Bill Butler, the blond, thick-bodied thirty-one-year-old detective who had just caught what was going to be the longest and most difficult case of his career, scanned the crowd, knowing that somewhere in it was a witness. For an instant he thought of holding them all, questioning them until they produced the man who called out that he had seen the killers sitting on the white Mustang. But Butler had been in the Thirty-second Precinct long enough to know it wouldn’t work. Pressure from the police would only deepen the silence. So he turned his back on the crowd, ordered a nearby patrolman to secure the Mustang, then stood at parade rest, waiting. Behind him, voices in the crowd whispered hoarsely but offered him nothing more.

An Emergency Services crew arrived with its generator truck and began stringing the high-powered lights that would illuminate the parking area like a fairground. While fifteen or twenty detectives circulated through the crowd, prowling the lawns, shrubs, and walkways in search of evidence, at least as many uniformed men began canvassing the project for potential witnesses. Kneeling on the ground, a detective from Forensic was tracing outlines on the sidewalk where the bodies had been found. He drew a circle for Waverly Jones’ head, a long ellipse for his body, then wrote the name JONES in large square letters across the chest. He stood up, stepping carefully around the bright puddle of blood that still gleamed red under the powerful lights.

Butler watched him silently, then crossed the parking area and approached Carl Lacho, the Forensic Division’s fingerprint expert. He ordered Lacho to dust the exterior of the Mustang and of the two other cars parked nearby. “We should get a break on this,” Lacho told him. “It rained a couple of hours ago, so any lifts we make are going to be fresh.”

About fifty yards from where Butler and Lacho were conferring, a forty-nine-year-old self-employed upholsterer named Jack Franklin circled furtively around the parking lot until he felt reasonably safe from observation. With a small, almost imperceptible hand movement, he caught the attention of one of the detectives. “I see them,” he whispered when the detective had come close enough.

“What did you see?”

“I seen them running. That’s my car over there. I was unloading and I seen them running this way.”

The detective flipped open his memo book, took Franklin’s name and address. “Okay, start from the beginning,” he said.

“Like I say, I’m unloading the back and I hear these shots. So I look up and I seen these guys running right over there.” He motioned with his hand.

“Two guys?”

“Three.”

“You sure of that?”

“They was right over there.”

“Okay. What else?”

“They had guns. And they run up that way. And that’s all I seen.”

The detective was skeptical. “Did you get a good look at them?” he asked. “Would you be able to recognize them?”

“You know it. I seen them real good. They was brothers, y’know—I mean they was black,” he corrected for the benefit of the white officer. “They was running kinda stooped down. Short fellas.”

“About how tall?”

“The bigger one, he was maybe say about five-one. The other two was shorter, say maybe four-eleven.”

The detective gulped. “How tall am I?” he demanded, to gauge if the witness had any concept of height.

Jack Franklin studied him carefully for a few seconds, then announced, “Five-eleven.”

Right on the money. The detective closed his notebook and told Franklin the police would be in touch with him to make an identification when the killers were apprehended.

At the same time that Franklin was having trouble convincing the investigating officers he had seen the killers, an eighteen-year-old Parks Department worker named Duncan Grant was having just as much trouble convincing them he had seen nothing. Grant had been sitting in front of building 159-38 when the gunmen ran by. “I saw them coming and I got under that bench man. I’m telling you they had guns!” he said shrilly.

“But you did see them?” the detective questioning him insisted.

“Yeah, when they first come around the building. But they was too far away.”

“How about when they got closer?”

“I just told you, man, I was under that bench. One of them says, ‘Be cool brother, we ain’t after you,’ but I wasn’t taking no chances.”

“Could you identify them?”

“Their feet maybe. I could identify their feet. What do you want from me, man?”

Unsatisfied with the answers he was getting, the detective took Grant to the Thirty-second Precinct for further questioning.

While all these was going on outside, the team of patrolmen assigned to canvass building number 159-20 was making headway of its own. They had just entered the lobby and were crossing toward the elevator when the car opened and two teen-age black girls stepped out. As soon as they saw the cops, the girls exchanged nervous glances. “We didn’t see anything!” one of them blurted out. She tried to get back into the elevator but one of the patrolmen grabbed the door. Both girls were handcuffed and taken to the Thirty-second Precinct for questioning.

So far, then, in the first minutes of the investigation, the police had turned up five witnesses, including Hector Grace, the gypsy-cab driver who had followed Patrolmen Warnecke and Alvin’s radio car back to the murder scene after notifying them of the shooting. Grace claimed to have gotten a fairly good look at the gunmen, but the other four witnesses were of doubtful worth—a kid who wouldn’t talk, a guy who had seen three midgets, and a pair of terrified and incoherent sixteen-year-old girls. It wasn’t much to go on.

Still, Bill Butler knew he had his first break in the case. It wasn’t a clue, it wasn’t anything that would help him find the killers. But the fact that the back-shooting butchers who killed Waverly Jones and Joseph Piagentini had taken the cops’ guns meant they were after trophies and they weren’t about to throw them away. Sooner or later those two Colt .38 Police Specials would be found. And when they were, they would tie the murderers to their deed like an umbilicus.

“We’re in a war,” Edward J. Kiernan, the truculent president of the Patrolmen’s Benevolent Association, announced the moment he arrived at Harlem Hospital. As the elected leader of the city’s thirty thousand uniformed cops, the gray-haired, craggy-faced PBA president had more than enough cause for outrage. Just two days earlier, on Wednesday, May 19, 1971, Patrolmen Thomas Curry and Nicholas Binetti were parked on 112th Street in front of District Attorney Frank Hogan’s apartment building while the cops assigned to the D.A.’s regular security detail took a late dinner break. Spotting a late-model yellow maverick heading west on the one-way eastbound street, they attempted to flag it down and were ignored. The Maverick turned south on the service road that parallels Riverside Drive and sped off. Curry and Binetti gave chase.

They caught up with the vehicle just north of 106th Street and pulled alongside. As they signaled for the car to pull to the curb, the driver suddenly ducked his head and the passenger to his right opened fire with a .45-caliber submachine gun, pumping a couple of dozen rounds through the doors and windows of the green-and-white patrol car. Curry, who was on the passenger side, was the most critically wounded, taking slugs in the face, shoulder, chest, and leg. One bullet passed through his optic nerve. Binetti was hit eight times, virtually ripped from the steering wheel by the tremendous pounding. Their bullet-riddled car careened on past the yellow Maverick, sliced murderously across the uptown lane of traffic, and came to a crashing stop at the foot of a statue in the narrow strip of park between Riverside Drive and the service road.

Curry fell from the car and was lying unconscious on the grass when the first police cars responded to the scene. Binetti managed to gasp out a description of the car and part of the license number before he, too, passed out. Both were taken to Saint Luke’s Hospital, where their conditions were listed as critical. It was only the fifth month of the year, but Curry and Binetti were the twenty-ninth and thirtieth officers wounded in the line of duty in 1971, compared to forty-five in all of 1970. Already five cops had been killed, and for a while it looked like Curry would be number six. But early Friday evening the hospital announced that his condition had stabilized. Then, barely two hours after the bulletin on Curry was released, Waverly Jones and Joseph Piagentini became the sixth and seventh police officers to die in the line of duty since the start of the bloodiest year New York’s cops had ever seen.

“It’s open season on cops in this city,” Kiernan told the reporters clustered around him in the spacious hospital foyer. “I refuse to stand by and permit my men to be gunned down while the Lindsay administration does nothing to protect them. Accordingly, I am instructing them to secure their own shotguns and to carry them on patrol at all times.”

“Do you think that will make a difference?” one of the reporters asked skeptically.

“I don’t know,” Kiernan answered after a long hesitation. “But we’ll do whatever is necessary. If we have to patrol this city in tanks, that’s what we’ll do. This is a war. I want all of my men to understand that in any situation in which they have to draw their weapons, they are to shoot to kill.”

Just three blocks away, in the detective squad room on the second floor of the Thirty-second Precinct station house, Police Commissioner Patrick V. Murphy was holding his own press conference, which was attended by Mayor John V. Lindsay. The commissioner released copies of two identical letters that had been hand-delivered earlier that evening to the New York Times office on 42nd Street and to the office of radio station WLIB, a black-owned soul music station in Harlem. The letters were dated May 19, 1971, the date of the Curry-Binetti shooting, and each was accompanied by a license plate matching the partial number Binetti had given.

The typewritten messages read:

Here are the license plates sort [sic] after by the fascist state pig police. We send them in order to exhibit the potential power of oppressed people to acquire revolutionary justice. The armed goons of this racist government will again meet the guns of oppressed Third World peoples as long as they occupy our community and murder our brothers and sisters in the name of American law and order; just as the fascist marines and army [who] occupy Vietnam in the name of democracy and murder Vietnamese people in the name of American imperialism are confronted with the guns of the Vietnamese Liberation Army, the domestic armed forces of racism and oppression will be confronted with the guns of the Black Liberation Army, who will met [sic] out in the tradition of Malcolm and all true revolutionaries real justice. We are Revolutionary Justice.

In answer to direct questions, the commissioner said that at that time he had seen no evidence of any connection between the shooting on Wednesday and the double murder at Colonial Park, which he characterized as “an organized attempt … deliberate, unprovoked, and maniacal.” When told that Edward Kiernan had “ordered” his men to secure their own shotguns, Murphy smiled at the phraseology but refused to get involved in a verbal battle with the PBA president. “Police officers will carry regulation firearms,” he said diplomatically, declining to comment further. Clearly, he seemed troubled by the possibility that his department might quickly degenerate into a posse of thirty thousand enraged and vengeful vigilantes.

The press conference had just ended when Commissioner Murphy’s fears began to be realized. As they left the ancient four-story brick station house, the commissioner and the mayor found their way to their waiting limousine barred by about twenty-five or thirty angry patrolmen clustered on the sidewalk. Most of the men had been to the hospital already, and then had drifted back to the precinct, their mood a volatile mixture of grief, outrage, and resentment.

Lindsay and Murphy sidled down the four concrete steps to street level, passing silently through the crowd, nodding glumly until forced to stop when the cops closed ranks.

“Jonesy and Joe are dead,” someone shouted. “What are we gonna do about it?”

“What are you gonna do about us?” another cop challenged. His question was echoed by half a dozen other voices.

“I don’t know about you guys,” a powerfully built patrolman on the top step of the stoop growled from behind the mayor and the commissioner. “But the next time I go out there I got my shotgun with me.”

“That’s not the answer,” Murphy said softly, without turning, the pious banality of his words making no impression at all on the men. “Those two patrolmen were ambushed from the back. Shotguns wouldn’t have done them any good.”

“That’s them,” someone shouted brutally. “I gotta be able to protect me.”

Murphy shook his head and merely repeated, “That’s not the answer.” Lindsay said nothing. Together, the mayor and the commissioner edged to the curb and were met at their car by a tall, boyish-looking patrolman who strode forward until he was eyeball to eyeball with the mayor. “We’re targets,” he said, his voice more plaintive than angry. “Every day we go out there we’re targets. They don’t fear us or respect us. Maybe if we carried shotguns, maybe if we got tough with them …”

His voice trailed off, the sentence unfinished, unfinishable. Mayor Lindsay and Commissioner Murphy disappeared into the idling limousine, which immediately sped off, leaving the cops to mutter among themselves on the street.

One of the cops on the sidewalk was Bobby Alvino, who already was having waking nightmares. The Colonial Park project was his sector, and the bullets that killed Piagentini and Jones would have killed him if it hadn’t been for the dumbest luck. At 9:45 he and his partner Mike Warnecke had been patrolling on the Harlem River Drive north of the project when they spotted a late-model yellow Maverick with two teen-age black males in the front seat. Warnecke checked the plates against the partial number on the small strip of paper taped to the dashboard—the single letter and three digits that had been all Nick Binetti had managed to say.

“Those aren’t the plates,” he announced flatly, but Alvino said, “They would’ve got rid of the plates. Let’s toss them.”

In response to their signal, the yellow Maverick eased off the Harlem River Drive onto Eighth Avenue and pulled to the curb at 159th just in front of the drugstore in the corner building of the project.

The kids and the car checked out clean. “Okay, beat it. Sorry to trouble you,” Alvino snarled, not particularly meaning it as an apology. While Warnecke jotted a note on the incident in his log, Alvino looked around and wondered if his partner was thinking the same thing he was. If the Maverick had been the car they were looking for, their service revolvers wouldn’t have done them much good against a .45 submachine gun. The thought of it sent a shiver down his spine. “Let’s get the hell out of here,” he snapped. “I don’t like it.”

He had driven less than a block when a call came in on the radio—a domestic disturbance on 144th. It was in the Dora sector, not the Paul, but Alvino was looking for something to get his mind off the yellow Maverick and what might have been waiting for the two of them when they walked up to it. “Let’s take it,” he said.

Warnecke was thinking the same thing and his hand was already on the mike.

A half hour later, when a call came in about another domestic disturbance at 159-20 Colonial Park Houses, a radio car from the John sector had to respond. That was why Bob Alvino and Mike Warnecke were alive, why Joe Piagentini and Waverly Jones were dead. That was why Alvino was having nightmares standing on the sidewalk in front of the Thirty-second Precinct station house on 135th Street.

Inside the station house, Bill Butler was questioning witnesses. Ruth Jennings and Gloria Lapp, the two teen-age girls picked up in the lobby of building 159-20, told their story while standing over the shoulder of a police artist, helping him sketch the killers.

Both girls were sixteen years old, high-school classmates. Ruth was small and sweet-faced, with wide oval eyes, pretty only by comparison with Gloria, who often came by to visit on a Friday night. Ruth’s parents, religious and overprotective, considered her too young to date, and Gloria, who was painfully shy and very much overweight, rarely was asked out, so they were sulking around the apartment with nothing to do. A little after ten o’clock Ruth’s father suggested a drive to City Island for a late supper. Bored in the apartment, wanting to talk out of adult earshot, Ruth and Gloria decided to wait in the parking lot out back until Ruth’s parents were ready to go.

On their way out, in the lobby, the two teen-age girls passed two cops on their way in, a black one and a white one. The black one was tall and handsome. “He’s cute,” Ruth said when the elevator doors had closed on the cops. Gloria mumbled noncommittally, pretending not to have noticed.

They followed the walkway down to the back of the building, stepping over the puddles that an evening shower had left in the pitted sidewalk. As they lounged against the front end of a car angle-parked in one of the numbered spaces, they noticed, only a few feet away to their right, a young black man no more than twenty years old nervously pacing the sidewalk. Despite her belligerent indifference to boys, Gloria got a good look at him. “He was tall,” she said, “had black attire, black hat, close-cropped Afro, a slight mustache and slight goatee.” The artist’s pencil flew as she spoke.

Stopping at the hedge that lined the sidewalk, the slender young man tore off a few leaves to gnaw on as he passed back to a white Mustang parked at the curb.

Another man, perhaps a year or two older, perched motionless on the left front fender of the Mustang, his hands under his thighs. His body faced the girls but his head was turned to the side as he stared over his right shoulder in the direction of the project building. Gloria described him as “shorter, about five-ten to five-eleven, and kind of stout, about 175 pounds.” Because he kept his head turned, she saw him only in profile.

Ruth and Gloria waited in the parking lot ten or fifteen minutes. “What’s keeping them? How long does it take to get dressed?” Ruth asked at last. She stepped away from the car, brushed her skirt off, and walked quickly down the sidewalk past the two men. Gloria hurried after her. They turned left at the walkway leading toward the front of the building and stopped under the window to the Jennings apartment. Ruth called up, got no answer, called a few more times. “They must be on their way,” Gloria said. “C’mon, let’s go back.”

As she turned, she noticed the two police officers she had seen in the lobby. They had come out the back door and were crossing along the sidewalk to their car, with the two young black men now behind them, the tall, nervous one in back of the black cop Ruth thought was cute, the heavier one who had been sitting on the car stalking the white cop. There was a noise and the policemen pitched forward, both of them, and then there were only the two black men, arms rigid, firing into the cops’ bodies. Between the explosions Gloria heard the white cop moaning, begging, “Don’t shoot me, don’t shoot me, I got a wife, I got two little kids, don’t shoot me.”

Gloria ran, with Ruth beside her, two frightened girls following the same path Piagentini and Jones had taken less than a half hour before on their way into the building. The cop’s piteous cry was still in their ears, but the shooting went on and on.

“Yes,” Ruth Jennings said, leaning forward for a better look at the sketch. “That’s him, that’s what he looked like.”

Gloria Lapp studied the sketch pad mutely. Two cold, coal black eyes stared back at her from under the visor of a black applejack cap. The forehead was high and clear, the mouth cruel. She nodded her head with her eyes closed tight, but couldn’t make the killer’s face go away.


Two

THE BABY TOOK THE BOTTLE AND SETTLED back to sleep, drinking unconsciously. Diane watched her jealously, envying her serenity. She stroked her cheek, marveling at the warmth of it, then crossed the room to peek at Deborah, who was two now, almost three, the grown-up daughter.

The clock in the kitchen said 12:30. Thank God, she thought. Joe’s tour ended at twelve and he was on his way home. She lit a low fire under the stew and decided to wait for him in bed.

At the bottom of the stairs she was startled by a loud knocking on the front door. Then she smiled to herself as she crossed the living room, thinking she had locked the screen door again. But the knocking wasn’t on the screen. Amused, she laughed lightly; it was like Joe to forget his keys.

As she passed the front window she saw a police car, dome light flashing, parked on the far side of the street. She quickened her pace, curious for Joe’s explanation. But when she opened the door the smile fell from her face and she leaped backward, reflexively slamming the door on the black-clad figure outlined against the night. She threw on the chain lock, ran for the phone, and started to dial the police emergency number. Then she stopped herself and set the phone down carefully, trying to think.

The police were there already. There was no need to call.

Like someone in a trance, obeying commands she does not understand, Diane went back to the door and opened it slowly. Reverend Arnold stepped in, two police officers with him. Not the Deer Park police. City police.

“Mrs. Piagentini, please come with us,” Reverend Arnold said softly, his voice low and warm. “We have to take you to Harlem Hospital.”

She didn’t ask why. She knew.

“I … can’t,” she stammered. Her eyes went to the staircase. “The children.”

“Someone will be coming to look after the children,” one of the officers said. “They’ll be here in just a minute. Please, Mrs. Piagentini.”

She was backing away from them, shaking her head, as though she were afraid they would take her against her will. The minister moved toward her, his hand reaching for hers. From the corner of the kitchen, Argus eyed him suspiciously but didn’t move. The other dogs, taking their cue from his strange stillness, backed off. In March, she and Joe had bought four German shepherds, the start of the dog-breeding business she hoped would grow fast enough to let him quit the force. So far, the kennels weren’t even finished in the back yard.

She reached for the phone, groping for it without taking her eyes off Reverend Arnold. She dialed and let it ring a long time. “It’s Diane,” she said. “You have to come over right away. Something’s happened to Joe.”

She followed Reverend Arnold down the walkway, the wisteria, just coming into flower, brushing at her elbow as she reached the drive. The house was set well back from the street, but the front yard had never seemed so long to her. They crossed to the patrol car, but Diane hesitated as Reverend Arnold held the door for her. Three houses down, she saw a light come on on the front porch and watched as Elaine, in a bathrobe, hurried down the three wooden steps to the yard, then ran across the lawns to the Piagentinis’ house, clutching her robe closed.

Knowing the children were not alone, Diane slid into the back seat of the patrol car, which wound its way to the expressway. Instead of driving straight to the city, it got off the highway at Queens Village. Twice Diane tried to ask how bad he was hurt but she stopped herself both times, afraid of their answer. She knew it was bad or they wouldn’t have come for her like this. The thought that he was dead didn’t once cross her mind.

When the car stopped, she made a conscious effort to orient herself but didn’t realize where she was until the door opened. They were in front of her parents’ house and a patrol car was there already. She wondered how they knew where her parents lived. Then her father slid into the back seat beside her but said nothing, which was his way. She sat stiffly, her anguish as sharp as pain, refusing comfort, and in truth he offered little other than what his presence brought.

With the siren off but the dome light twirling colors into the still night, the patrol car sped on, crossing into Manhattan, racing north to Harlem, as silent as a dream. Police cars, press cars, and limousines crowded Lenox Avenue in front of the immense rectangular hospital, but they left a narrow passage to the emergency entrance on 136th Street. As the patrol car looped into it, Diane reached for the door handle, but her father stopped her with a touch on her arm.

“He isn’t alive, you know,” he said.

She ran from him, her vision blurred, her mind numb as she stumbled past an empty green-and-white patrol car parked just beyond the ambulance bay. Three hours earlier, her husband had died in the back seat of it.

Inside the hospital, breathless and trembling, she heard her name being whispered by people she didn’t know. “Is that his wife?” “Piagentini’s wife?” “Diane, isn’t it? Someone check, see if her name is Diane.”

A man in a lightly striped suit stepped through the crowd. “Mrs. Piagentini? This way please.”

“I want to see my husband.”

He nodded as though he understood.

There were uniformed cops all around, new ones showing up all the time. They always came like that, from everywhere in the city, and it was after midnight now, the end of the tour—the four-to-midnight tour, Joe’s tour—so that hundreds more would be rushing uptown to join those already at the hospital. They had come to give blood, for they knew it was their blood that had been spilled that night. And they had come to keep a vigil, to wait until the verdict was in.

But why were they just standing in glum, speechless knots? Why weren’t they going off in ones or twos with a nurse, coming back pale and unsteady with sleeves rolled up? A terrible intuition told her he didn’t need their blood. He’s dead, isn’t he? she wanted to ask, just cry the question out loud and let one of the uniformed men answer it.

Instead, she followed the man in the striped suit down a gray tiled corridor away from the crowd. As she walked, hope seeped back with each step. Deep in the bowels of the building he stopped and pushed open a door for her. She stepped past him quickly, expecting to see her husband, injured but asleep, breathing lightly in a hospital bed. But the room was a reception area of some kind, filled with middle-aged men in suits who stopped talking when she walked in.

A small, precisely dressed man with thinning white hair and the blank face of a high-school principal stepped forward and approached her. This was the commissioner, Patrick V. Murphy. As he walked toward her, two men peeled from the group he had been with and fell into place behind him. None of their faces told her anything.

“I want to see my husband,” she said while the commissioner was still half a dozen steps away.

“Not right now, Mrs. Piagentini,” Murphy said. His voice was soft, even gentle, and she hoped it meant that Joe was all right, that he was being operated on, that … anything except what she knew it meant.

“I want to see him,” she repeated, in exactly the same tone she had used before. Her voice calm and sounded almost cold in her ears, but inside she could feel she was starting to lose her grip.

One of the commissioner’s aides said, “Mrs. Piagentini, your husband is dead. They did everything they could for him.”

Her straight brown hair, parted in the center, fell on both sides of her long, oval face, framing dark eyes that gleamed with the pale sorrow of a Giotto madonna. She closed her eyes and held them closed, and when she opened them she looked straight at Murphy, as though the commissioner had the authority to countermand what his aide had said. “I want to see him,” she said again. This time her voice was shrill and peremptory, her need to be with her husband urgent.

“I’m sorry, Mrs. Piagentini. A little later perhaps.” The commissioner said something else, something about a sedative, but she was no longer listening.

“Why did you bring me here if you won’t let me see him?” she demanded angrily. “I have to go home to my children, they need me, my God, my God.”

She turned to run from them, but the commissioner motioned with his head in what struck her as a prearranged signal, and an aide reached out a hand for her. She heard them talking about sedatives again, but she pulled free and fled through the door. She raced down the corridor, looking for a way out, a way back to her fatherless children.

Her footsteps, running, were still audible through the open door, when an aide rushed out after her. The commissioner followed a good ten yards behind his aide, who managed to overtake the fleeing widow just as she entered the broad foyer by the hospital’s main entrance and found herself facing about half a dozen reporters and as many photographers. The aide called her name and she turned, her face scarred with tears. “Make them go away,” she cried. “Please don’t let them take my picture.”

The aide held up a hand to stop the photographers and crossed the foyer to her. “The commissioner has something to say to you,” he said almost insolently.

Behind him she could see Murphy scurrying across the marble floor. Miscalculating the distance that still separated them, she turned to walk away, but the commissioner’s hand darted out, catching her forearm just above the wrist as he fell in step beside her. Precisely at that instant photographers’ bulbs exploded through the lobby.

She wrenched herself free and ran from the hospital. The caption on the picture in the Daily News that morning read, “Diane Piagentini Being Escorted from Hospital by Commissioner Murphy after Viewing Her Husbands Body.”


Three

ON MONDAY, MAY 24, JUST THREE DAYS AFTER the shooting, Gloria Lapp’s father called Bill Butler at the Thirty-second Precinct. “My girl’s seen the killer,” he said.

“I know,” Butler answered. “We told you Saturday, if you think she needs police protection, we can arrange it. Want me to set it up?”

“That’s not what I mean,” the heavy-set man growled into the phone.

“Yeah, okay, what is it?” Butler said, not understanding.

“I mean, she seen him today.”

“Where?” the detective’s excitement registered in his voice.

“The subway. Hundred-sixty-eighth.”

“When? Just now?”

“No. This morning.”

Butler hung up the phone and hurried to the Lapps’ apartment in the Polo Grounds project. There Gloria told of seeing the taller of the two gunmen—the one who had paced between the Mustang and the hedge, sucking leaves, the one she had gotten a good look at in the fifteen minutes before the murders. On her way to school Monday morning, she was switching from the Independent train to the IRT when he passed within a few feet of her.

“Are you sure it was him?” Butler asked. For some reason he didn’t understand, witnesses to crimes often report seeing the perpetrator shortly after the incident. Perhaps the killer’s face was so deeply etched in her consciousness she couldn’t help seeing him wherever she looked.

“I’m not sure it was him,” Gloria Lapp answered, as though mere certainty could not possibly express the strength of her conviction. “It was him.”

Butler nodded, convinced. “Did he recognize you?” he asked.

Until that moment the thought that the killer might have seen and recognized her hadn’t fully come home to her.

“No, I don’t think so,” she answered hesitantly, suddenly afraid, trying to bring back the picture of his face as she saw him in the subway, trying to read it for a sign of recognition. And then it struck her that he was a strong and wily man, capable no doubt of utterly concealing his shock of surprise at their second encounter. Had he recognized her as a witness to the killings? Was he sizing her up, looking for a telltale sign that would warn him she could identify him? Had she given herself away?

These thoughts terrorized the simple, trusting girl, who had no confidence at all in her power to dissemble.

“You hadn’t ought to frighten the child like that,” Mr. Lapp muttered sorrowfully. “She saw him. What more do you want?”

“No, nothing more,” Butler said, rising.

Back at the Three-two a few minutes later, he lined up a squad for stakeout duty at the 168th Street subway station the next morning. In the back of his mind he knew it was a long shot, but not any longer than Gloria Lapp’s seeing the killer getting on the train in the first place. Take any man on the subway at 8:30 in the morning, he told himself, and the chances are he’s on the same train at the same time every morning. There is a certain feeling a cop gets when it seems that a case is starting to break his way, and Butler had that feeling.

Besides, the news waiting for him in the squad room made the need for a solution all the more urgent. At just about the time Gloria Lapp’s father had called, two notes had been delivered simultaneously to the New York Times and radio station WLIB, just as had happened after the Curry-Binetti shooting on May 19th. A copy of these notes was immediately forwarded to the Thirty-second Precinct and was waiting on Butler’s desk when he walked in. It read, in part:

Revolutionary justice has been meted out again by righteous brothers of the Black Liberation Army with the death of two Gestapo pigs gunned down as so many of our brothers have been gunned down in the past. But this time no racist class jury will acquite [sic] them. Revolutionary justice is ours!

Every policeman, lackey or running dog of the ruling class must make his or her choice now. Either side with the people: poor and oppressed, or die for the oppressor. Trying to stop what is going down is like trying to stop history, for as long as there are those who will dare live for freedom there are men and women who dare to unhorse the emperor.

All power to the people.

Butler threw the note onto his desk with mixed feelings of rage and humiliation, as appalled by the arrogance of it as he was stung by the insult. Like trying to stop history? Bullshit! He almost leaped from his chair and nervously paced the office for a few minutes. Then, to calm himself, he forced himself to think ahead to the morning, when the tall gunman would walk into a trap set by a sixteen-year-old girl at the 168th Street subway station. So much for history!

It was already well into the evening, and for the first time in three days there seemed to be a break in the tempo of the investigation, which up to that point had been random, directionless, nonstop. Now, abruptly, everything was on hold for a few hours. The lull gave Butler a chance to realize he was exhausted. Slumping back into his seat, he debated with himself whether to drive home or sleep on one of the cots upstairs on the third floor, then decided that he had to get home even though the fifty-mile drive up and back would cost him about two hours that could be better spent sleeping. He pulled himself from behind his desk, went to the file for a copy of the artist’s rendering of the tall gunman, and then left for the night. The sketch was on his dashboard as he drove, on the night table next to his bed as he slept.

In the morning he passed out copies of the artist’s sketch to the six detectives who met him at the station house. Each of them studied the picture carefully, memorizing it anew, even though they all had seen it before and would never forget the lean, hard face. Then, using a diagram of the subway station, Butler gave orders for the deployment of his squad.

By 7:30 the seven detectives—including Butler, who stationed himself in the token seller’s booth—were all in position, eyes scanning the thin but steady stream of passengers from behind a copy of the Daily News, from a head bent over a broom, from under the visor of a battered baseball cap. Two of the detectives were wearing business suits, two wore wind-breakers and work pants, and the last two had on coveralls borrowed from Transit Authority maintenance men.

Around 8:20 Butler saw Gloria Lapp enter the station on her way to school. She had a token in her hand, didn’t stop at the booth, didn’t see him. By this time riders were pouring down the stairs in rush-hour profusion, spilling onto the platform and forming small dense herds at the points where the car doors would open. Watching their faces was like trying to count snowflakes, but Butler and the other detectives in the station knew the gunman could not have passed unnoticed before their eyes. Although the sketch they were working from was imprecise, like a blurred snapshot, they would have spotted him as surely as if he wore the mark of a murderer branded into his face.

When he hadn’t appeared by 9:00, the tension of expectant confidence began to give way to sour disappointment. By 9:30 the pulse of the station had slowed markedly; there were fewer riders and they moved without haste. Occasionally a late-for-work secretary flew past, heels clattering noisily on the steel steps. The trains came fully five minutes apart. At 10:00 Butler accepted the fact that the killer was not following a routine, that his appearance now would be only a matter of chance. Still, he waited.

At 10:30 he gave up and called off the stake-off. The men hurried back to the Thirty-second Precinct, where they just had time to exchange their work clothes for dark suits before leaving the station house with all the other uniformed officers and detectives who had gathered there. Funeral services for Waverly Jones were scheduled to start in Harlem at 11:30.

Questioned by reporters after the funeral, Police Commissioner Murphy promised an “early solution” to the brutal double murder. When asked if the Black Panther Party or any other radical group were involved in either of the preceding week’s two shootings, Murphy said there was no proof of such involvement, although he did concede that this was one of the possibilities “under investigation.”

Largely for political reasons, the department persistently downplayed the racial aspect of the case, for the Lindsay administration prided itself on having kept New York City free of ghetto rioting and other manifestations of interracial hostility. Indeed, City Hall was so alarmed by the angry and anguished sentiments being freely voiced by the city’s cops—and especially by their elected representative, PBA President Kiernan—that at times there actually seemed to be more concern about what the cops would do than about what was being done to them. Manhattan Borough President Percy Sutton, one of the most influential black political figures in the city, issued a statement roundly denouncing what he characterized as “emotional calls for shotgun justice.” From other black spokesmen came similar pronouncements warning that the community would not tolerate police militancy. Commissioner Murphy fell right in line with these sentiments when he announced that henceforward radio patrol cars in high-crime areas would be followed by unmarked backup units. Instead of describing this new procedure as a measure to protect cops from being lured into ambushes, he explained that it “would counteract possible overreacting by policemen.”

Ironically, in this area the police department’s thinking closely paralleled the theories of revolutionary terrorism that undoubtedly activated the killers. According to those who rationalize murdering policemen, shooting a cop in the back is a revolutionary act because it provokes police retaliation, which in turn “educates the masses” to the true nature of the oppressive system under which they live. In real life, though, it turned out that the police department and the Black Liberation Army had underestimated both the cops and the ghetto community. In the tense days that followed the Colonial Park killings, there was a lot of angry rhetoric but not a single instance of police “overreaction.” And Harlem, instead of turning on the cops, condoled with them and tendered its sympathy. On 125th Street, when a four-year-old boy cocked his finger and squealed bang-bang at a cop on foot patrol, he got a hard slap across the mouth from his mother and the cop got an apology. “Maybe something good can come out of all this,” the patrolman said later. “They know we’re hurting and they’re being nice to us. It feels good not to be called a pig every day. I hope it lasts.”

The stake-out was repeated on Wednesday, the day Joseph Piagentini was buried, and again on Thursday and Friday, each day with dimmer hopes. On the following Monday the seven detectives, who by this time needed no briefing and reported straight to the subway station before checking in at the precinct, approached the assignment with feelings of numb desperation which they managed to temper with self-mocking optimism. “Well, we know he doesn’t go to work,” one of them said. “Maybe he was going to get his unemployment check. Mondays his day.”

But it wasn’t.

The stake-out went on for two more weeks—with no luck, no hope, and no results. Then, in the predawn hours of Saturday, June 6, the dying investigation suddenly came alive again. Four heavily armed black men attempted to rip off the Double M, an after-hours bottle club in the Bronx. The lookout, who was stationed on the street directly in front of the entrance to the second-floor “social club,” wore a Colt .45 tucked in his belt. The other three went upstairs ready for war: the first with a double-barreled sawed-off shotgun in one hand and a 9-millimeter Browning automatic in the other, the second with a shotgun and a .357 Smith and Wesson Magnum. The third man, who seemed to be the leader, menaced the tipsy patrons with a .45-caliber M3A submachine gun.

He ordered everyone, men and women, to strip. When one man was slower than he should have been, the machine gun sent a string of bullets ripping over his head into the wall behind him, filling the corner of the room with plaster dust and leaving an ominous row of ugly woundlike holes. The man quickly undressed and threw his clothes onto the pile.

While the machine gunner guarded the line of naked hostages, his two accomplices began rifling the clothes for wallets and jewelry. The lookout on the street, alarmed by the sound of gunfire, raced upstairs. “Get your dumb ass back to the street,” the machine gunner barked at him. “You ain’t doing no good up here.”

The lookout turning sullenly to leave. “Yeah, well just be quick, man,” he muttered, shaking his head. “You sure made a lot of noise.”

Enough noise that a radio patrol unit, passing two blocks away, stopped to gauge the direction from which the sound had come. Knowing the neighborhood, the patrolmen guessed that a ripoff was in progress at the bottle club. They called in for backup and raced to the scene, arriving just as the lookout reached the bottom of the steps and opened the rotting wood door. “Shi-i-i-it!” he gasped, loud enough for the cops outside to hear him. Taking the steps four at a time, he charged back up to the club. “There’s pigs out there,” he shouted. “You sure done it this time.”

“How many?” the machine gunner asked coolly. The other two stopped their search through the clothes and grabbed their weapons.

“I don’t know. Two. I don’t know,” the lookout stammered.

The machine gunner walked to the window and looked out, saw a green-and-white patrol car directly beneath him. He couldn’t see the cops in it but would have opened fire anyway except that at that moment another car skidded around the corner and pulled to a stop about twenty yards from the first. Seconds later there were two more cars and then a fifth, making the odds far too heavy.

“Okay, folks,” he said, turning from the window, “stay cool and put your clothes on. Sorry about the inconvenience.”

The cops outside took covered positions behind their cars. Then they waited, guns trained on the doorway. When no one came out, the patrolman who had first heard the shots decided to go in. His partner and another team followed while the six remaining cops covered them with drawn guns. The lead patrolman threw open the door and dropped low in a crouch, motionless for a moment until he was certain the stairway ahead of him was clear. Slowly, he inched his way forward and started up the steps, ready to answer a burst of gunfire at any second. The six men on the street left their positions and fell in behind the first four.

Upstairs they found twenty-five or thirty black people, most of them well dressed, in their forties or fifties. They weren’t drinking and they weren’t sitting at the tables, but were standing together on one side of the room. It looked odd, but the cops didn’t know what to make of it.

“What’s going on here?” one of the patrolmen demanded.

“Beats me,” a goateed gentleman in a tomato-red suit answered. “We just mindin’ our own business.”

“We heard shooting,” the cop said, by way of explanation.

For a moment no one answered. Then a woman said, “No, there wasn’t no shooting.”

At the same time a man said, “Yeah, some dudes tried to rip us off. But they gone now.”

The customers exchanged nervous glances. The cops looked at each other. Then the man who had been slow undressing said, “No way. The cats you lookin’ for ain’t gone. It’s him. And him. And him. And him.”

There was a chorus of concurrence from the crowd. The four men were cuffed without a struggle. Under a tablecloth in a corner of the room the police found the two shotguns, the submachine gun, and the three hand guns. All the weapons except the machine gun were taken back to the precinct. The machine gun was rushed to the ballistics laboratory at the Police Academy on 20th Street, where ballistics experts discharged about two dozen rounds into the Academy swimming pool, dove in to recover the bullets, then ran comparisons with the slugs found at the scene of the Curry-Binetti shooting. They matched perfectly.

All four of the men arrested at the Double M Club had criminal records; three of them were known to be members of the Black Panther Party, while the fourth was a petty stickup artist. Of special interest to the police was the one with the machine gun, who called himself Dharuba. His name was Richard Moore and he was one of the “Panther 21,” although he had jumped bail and hadn’t stood trial with the others.

At a line-up held a few hours after the arrests, witnesses to the May 19th machine gunning on Riverside Drive identified Moore as one of the men they had seen in the yellow Maverick. But the eye-witnesses from the Colonial Park project were equally positive that neither Moore nor any of his three accomplices at the social club resembled Piagentini’s and Jones’s killers.

Later an informant told police that Moore had written the Curry-Binetti letter two days after the shooting, that Moore’s common-law wife had typed it out, and that a nineteen-year-old camp follower had delivered it. On the evening it was delivered, according to the informant, Moore was drinking wine and celebrating at a friend’s house when an associate, who later was to serve as lookout during the ill-fated social-club stickup, rushed in to say he had just heard on the radio that “some brothers offed two pigs in Harlem.” Moore undoubtedly expected that within a day or two the newspapers would be carrying a defiant revolutionary message from the killers like the one he had sent. When no such message appeared by Monday morning, he corrected the error by composing the letter himself.

With the arrest of Richard Moore, the Curry-Binetti case was partly solved. But the investigation of the murders of Piagentini and Jones was back to zero. Even in the terrorist circles in which Moore moved, no one seemed to know the identity of the killers.

And that is the way it stayed through the summer. On the day after the killings, the police department set up two special phone numbers and promised that all information would be kept confidential. The Patrolmen’s Benevolent Association offered a reward. Dozens of detectives were assigned to the case and literally hundreds more volunteered their time, working in off-duty hours to track down the leads that poured in over the phone.

Through May, June, July, and into August, over a thousand calls came in on the special numbers. Each one was laboriously checked out. Sometimes they said simply, “The guys that shot the cops are at the corner of Eighth and Forty-third,” in which case a radio car would be sent immediately, sometimes they were more promising: “There’s a dude name-uh Shorty shoots pool up on Lenox, like around Hunna-thirtieth. He got his-self a po-lice gun.” One call led to a man who turned out to be the director of a federal poverty program. The detectives who went to question him learned that on twenty-two separate occasions over the past three months someone had harassed him by calling an undertaker and asking that a hearse be sent to his home to pick up his body.

Sometimes a woman would have a fight with her lover and then call in to inform on him. Or someone who simply wanted to collect the reward would finger a friend he had quarreled with, an acquaintance he had a grudge against, even a total stranger. Neighbors phoned in to report that the people living down the hall from them were militants, were probably involved, and in any case bore watching. And so it went. Every lead, no matter how seemingly inconsequential, was investigated. In the end it turned out that they all had one thing in common. They led nowhere.

In the spring of 1971, the New York City Police Department did not have in its possession any systematically classified data about the activities of militant radicals. There were M.O. files on burglars, armed robbers, known gamblers, rapists, forgers, extortionists, and dozens of other criminal categories, but up until that point terrorists activities carried out by self-proclaimed revolutionaries were handled on a case-by-case basis.
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